RECEIVED 03-16-2020 **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEA OF WISCONSIN**

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP002519-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

MICHAEL A. RAKEL,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MILWAUKEE COUNTY THE HONORABLE MARK A. SANDERS PRESIDING MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT CASE NO. 15CF5146

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Bradley J. Lochowicz (State Bar No. 1037739)

LOCHOWICZ & VENEMA LLP Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant

11 1/2 N. Wisconsin Street P.O. Box 20 Elkhorn, WI 53121-0470

Case 2017AP002519 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-16-2020 Page 2 of 25

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. DID THE COURT HAVE AUTHORITY TO ORDER RAKEL TO PAY CHILD SUPPORT FOR THE DECENDENT'S CHILD AS PART OF RESTITUTION.

Trial Court Answered: Yes.

II. DID THE COURT ORDER RESTITUTION PAYABLE TO THE PROPER PARTY WHERE THE COURT ORDERED PAYMENTS TO THE MOTHER OF THE VICTIM'S CHILD.

Trial Counsel Answered: Not Answered.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The Defendant-Appellant believes that the briefs will fully present and meet the issues on appeal and will fully develop the theories and legal authority governing the issues, and therefore oral argument would be of little value to the court as the law applicable to this case is already well settled.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The scope of a Circuit Court's authority to make orders regarding restitution is a question of Statutory Construction, subject to <u>de novo</u> review. <u>State v. Johnson</u>, 2002 WI App 166, P7, 256 Wis.2d 871, 649 N.W.2d 284 (Ct. App. 2002) (Citing <u>State v. Baker</u>, 2001 WI App 100, P4, 243 Wis.2d 77, 626 N.W.2d 862. The Circuit Court's restitution orders, on the other hand, are discretionary acts which are only

Case 2017AP002519 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-16-2020 Page 5 of 25

examined to determine whether the court logically interpreted the facts, applied the proper legal standards, and used a demonstrated rational process to reach a conclusion that a reasonable judge could reach. <u>Johnson</u>, 2002 WI App 166 at P7. Circuit Courts have discretion in deciding on the amount of restitution and in determining whether the defendant's criminal activity was a substantial factor in causing any expenses for which restitution is claimed. <u>State v. Canady</u>, 2000 WI App 87, P6, 12, 234 Wis.2d 261, 610 N.W.2d 147.

STATEMENT OF CASE/FACTS

On November 29, 2015, the Defendant, Michael A. Rakel was charged in Milwaukee County Case Number 15-CF-5146 with one count of First-Degree Reckless Homicide as Party to a Crime, Habitual Criminality Repeater, Use of a Dangerous Weapon, contrary to sections 940.42(1), 939.50(3)(b), 939.05, 939.62(1)(c), and 939.63(1)(b) Wis. Stats. and Attempted Armed Robbery use of Force as Party to a Crime, Habitual Criminality Repeater, contrary to sections 943.32(1)(a) and (2), 939.50(3)(c), 939.32, 939.05, 939.62(1)(c), Stats. (R1-3)

According to the Criminal Complaint on October 16, 2015, Milwaukee Fire Department Engine No. 31 was dispatched to a

Case 2017AP002519 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-16-2020 Page 6 of 25

subject down near the bridge at South 9th Place and West Harrington Avenue. (R1:3) Upon arriving, the Fire Department notified the Milwaukee Police Department that the subject, later identified through fingerprints as AT was deceased. (R1:3) The City of Milwaukee Police Department was dispatched to the scene. (R1:3)

City of Milwaukee Police Detective Larry Schimke conducted an investigation of the scene. (R1:3) The victim's body was discovered on the south concrete embankment of the Kinnickinnic River, just to the west of the South 9th Place Bridge, in the City and County of Milwaukee, State of Wisconsin. (R1:3) The victim's body was laying face down and was partially concealed due to being dragged into an opening within the concrete embankment. (R1:3) Directly above from where the victim's body was discovered was a large area of grass covered in blood. (R1:3) According to the complaint, there was a distinct drag path that led from the grass to the concrete embankment and into the opening to the embankment where the victim was discovered. (R1:3)

The victim was wearing a black t-shirt with an emblem depicting a gold crown and wings on the front over a white t-shirt, black shorts and blue boxers. (R1:3) The shorts and

Case 2017AP002519 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-16-2020 Page 7 of 25

boxers were pulled down to the victim's lower legs exposing his buttocks. (R1:3) The complaint alleges that the shorts and boxers were pulled down because the victim was dragged down the embankment. (R1:3) An examination of the victim's body revealed numerous sharp force injuries, believed to be stab wounds, to his left upper back, left shoulder, left abdominal flank, base of neck and behind the right ear. (R1:3)

On the east side of South 9th Place and just to the south of the bridge laying in the gutter was a black and white head bandana. (R1:3) Near the bandana on the grass parking strip was a pack of Newport cigarettes and a lottery ticket. (R1:3) There was a small amount of suspected blood on the cigarette pack and lottery ticket. (R1:3) There were small drops of blood located on the asphalt foot path to the west of the victim's body. (R1:3) There were additional blood drops at the north end of the dead-end alley between South 9th Place and South 10th Street. (R1:3)

Detective Schmike conducted a vehicle fire investigation on October 16, 2015 at 2629 South 7th Street. (R1:3) The vehicle was identified as a black 2001 GMC Yukon Denali. (R1:3) A check revealed that the vehicle was registered to the victim, AT (R1:3) The vehicle suffered extreme fire

Case 2017AP002519 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-16-2020 Page 8 of 25

damage. (R1:3) A later search of the vehicle by Milwaukee Police Detective Jeffrey Sullivan revealed suspected blood recovered from the driver's door, the driver's rear door, the passenger rear door, underneath the hood of the car near the air filter box, fuse box, and inside the driver and passenger door pocket areas. (R1:3) It is alleged that the appearance of the blood is consistent with someone searching throughout the vehicle for items. (R1:3)

Dr. Jacob Smith, an assistant medical examiner from Milwaukee County, performed an autopsy of AT and determined the victim had suffered fifteen (15) apparent puncture wounds from an unknown type of sharp object to the neck, chin, forehead, arms, shoulder, and flank. (R1:4) Additionally, Dr. Smith determined the victim suffered an additional six (6) incision wounds caused by an indeterminate sharp object to the hand, forearm, and head. (R1:4) The victim also had abrasions to his knees, right ankle, left buttock, and back. (R1:4) The injuries were determined to be consistent with falling down or being dragged. (R1:4) Dr. Smith determined that the cause of the victim's death was multiple stab wounds and the manner of death was homicide. (R1:4) Dr. Smith determined, to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, that

Case 2017AP002519 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-16-2020 Page 9 of 25

the cause of the victim's death was multiple stab wounds and the manner of death was homicide. (R1:4)

Detective Michael Walisiewicz interviewed an individual by the name of Amber Pries, a co-actor. (R1:4) Pries indicated she knows both defendant, Roxanne Gray, a former girlfriend and the defendant, Michael Rakel, Gray's new boyfriend. (R1:4)

Pries indicated that she was present when Gray and Rakel were involved in an attempt to rob the victim that ended up with the victim being killed. (R1:4) Pries told the detective that on the night of the homicide Gray called her and told her to get dressed up. (R1:4) When she asked Gray why she needed to get dressed up, Gray told her not to worry. (R1:4) Pries stated that when Gary came to get her, Gray told Pries that Gray's drug dealer was coming, and they were going to get some "stuff" off of him. (R1:4) Pries stated that Gray told her they were going to get three grams of heroin and two grams of crack. (R1:4) Pries indicated that she asked Gray where she was going to get the money and Gray told her not to worry. (R1:4)

Pries stated that Gray and Rakel came to her house and picked her up in a white car. (R1:4) All three of them then

Case 2017AP002519 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-16-2020 Page 10 of 25

traveled to 11th and Cleveland where Rakel dropped off Pries and Gray on the street. (R1:4) Pries told the detective that Rakel parked the car somewhere and came back on foot. (R1:4) Pries stated that Gray told Rakel to hide. (R1:4) Pries then asked Gray if they were going to rob the individual. (R1:4) Pries told Gray that they were going to rob the individual. (R1:4) Gray told Pries that when the victim gets there to walk around the side and get into the side of the victim's vehicle. (R1:4) Pries stated that she told Gray "ok, whatever." (R1:4) She indicated that Rakel was hiding by a parked car. (R1:4)

Pries told the detective that the victim showed up driving a truck or SUV type of vehicle. (R1:4) She indicated they were on 10th Street next to the park. (R1:4) She stated that the victim pulled up and Gray got into the passenger seat of the victim's vehicle while Pries walked around the side to get into the back of the vehicle. (R1:4) She indicated that as she was getting into the back, Rakel came up from her side and snatched the victim out of the truck. (R1:4) Pries stated that she dove into the front seat and put the car in park because it was still in drive. (R1:4)

Pries told the detective that when Rakel pulled the victim out of the truck, she observed Rakel punching the victim. (R1:4) She indicated the victim was able to run away and Rakel and Gray ran after him. (R1:4) Pries stated she stayed in the truck and a little bit later Rakel and Gray came back and got into the truck and told her to go. (R1:4-5) She told the detective that Rakel had a "pokey stick," which she described as a "shish-ke-bob stick" (R1:5) Pries further stated that Gray had a pocketknife or a regular knife. (R1:5) She indicated Gray was in the front passenger side and Rakel got into the back seat. (R1:5) Pries further stated that Gray had blood on her face, like "mist," and she told Pries that it was from Gray and Rakel punching the victim. (R1:5) Pries further stated that as the three of them were leaving Gray pulled out the knife. (R1:5) Pries asked Gray if she just stabbed the guy to which Pries indicated she did. (R1:5)

Pries indicated that she drove the truck to 7th Street.

(R1:5) She told the detective that they then went back to the Pries' house and noticed Rakel had blood all over his pants.

(R1:5) Pries stated that Rakel and Gray were talking about

Case 2017AP002519 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-16-2020 Page 12 of 25

having to get the blood off of them before they went back to the house. (R1:5)

Pries stated that Rakel washed his pants off in her bathtub and that he took a pair of her sweatpants to wear. (R1:5) Rakel took the jeans with him. (R1:5) Pries told the detective that after Rakel changed his pants, he and Gray left again and went back down by the victim. (R1:5) Pries believed that Rakel and Gray took the victim's pants. (R1:5)

Pries told the detective that she remembered somebody ditching something as they were walking away from the truck. (R1:5) She also indicated that she saw Gray throw something in a bush. (R1:5) She indicated that she believed Gray went under the hood of the car just before she set it on fire. (R1:5) She believes that Gray went under the hood of the vehicle looking for drugs. (R1:5)

On December 1, 2015, Rakel made his initial appearance. (R44:2) A preliminary hearing was scheduled December 9, 2015. On December 9, 2015 a preliminary hearing was held before the Honorable Barry Phillips. Based upon the evidence at the preliminary hearing, the court bound Rakel over for trial.

Prior to the plea hearing, the State filed a fourth amended information charging Rakel with one count of First-

Degree Reckless Homicide as Party to a Crime, contrary to sections 940.02(1), 939.50(3)(b) and 939.05, Stats. (R16:1) On the same date, January 9, 2017, Rakel entered a guilty plea to the charge. (R56:5) The plea hearing was held before the Honorable Jeffrey A. Wagner. (R56:2) At said hearing, Rakel entered into a plea agreement in which he would plead to the amended charge of First Degree Reckless Homicide as Party to a Crime, with the State recommending thirty (30) years confinement but remaining silent as to the length of extended supervision. (R56:5-6) (R17:2) Additionally, Rakel would be free to argue for what he believed to be a reasonable sentence. (R56:5-6) (R17:2)

On March 23, 2017, a sentencing hearing has held before the Honorable Mark A. Sanders. (R57:2)

The court sentenced Rakel to thirty (30) years of initial confinement and ten (10) years extended supervision for a total sentence of forty (40) years imprisonment. (R57:83) The court ordered this sentence consecutive to any other sentence Rakel was serving. (R57:83)

On August 25, 2017, a Restitution Hearing was held before the Honorable Mark A. Sanders. (R59:3)(A:5) At the restitution hearing, the State, on behalf of the victim,

Case 2017AP002519 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-16-2020 Page 14 of 25

requested child support to be payable by Mr. Rakel to the biological of the decedent's child, L.G. (R59:5-6) (A:7-8) On behalf of Mr. Rakel, trial counsel objected to child support being paid as part of restitution. (R59:7) (A:9) Following arguments by all parties, the court ordered Rakel to pay the biological mother of victim's child, in the amount of \$11,500.00 calculated as \$165.00 for the next seventy (70) months, as child support. (R: p.19-20) (A:21-22)

The court ordered other restitution amounts which are not a subject of this appeal.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT ERRED IN ORDERING RAKEL TO PAY CHILD SUPPORT TO THE MOTHER OF THE DECEDENT'S CHILD FOR RESTITUTION.

Section 973.20 Stats., governs restitution awards for criminal convictions in Wisconsin. The statute requires the court, at the time of sentencing, to make an order requiring "full or partial restitution" to the victim or the victim's estate if the victim is deceased. Section 973.20(1)(r) Stats. The statute has specific provisions allowing different types of restitution awards for property damage, sex crimes, crimes involving bodily injury, and crimes involving death. The statute also has a catch-all provision allowing the court to

require the defendant to pay all "special damages but not general damages, substantiated by evidence in the record which can be recovered in a civil action." Section 973.20(5)(a), Stats. This statute makes no reference to authorizing the court to order "child support."

The Statute allows the court to order restitution for bodily injury by paying for medical and other professional services. Section 973.20(3), Stats. The Order may also "reimburse the injured person for income loss." Section 973.20(3)(c), Stats. If the crime resulted in death, the restitution order can compensate the victim for "funeral and related services." Section 973.20(4), Stats. However, there is no provision which specifically provides that the court can compensate the dependents of the victim for loss with financial support.

There is language in the restitution statute with specifically address lost income. Section 973.20(3)(c), Stats., Provides that the court may "reimburse the injured person for income lost as a result of a crime considered at sentencing." It is true that a "victim" is not defined as only the injured person, it can also be a family member of the injured person. See section 950.02(4)(a)4a; See also

Case 2017AP002519 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-16-2020 Page 16 of 25

State v. Gribble, 2001 WI App 227. P67, 248 Wis.2d 409, 636 N.W.2d 488(Ct. App 2001). However, the Statutory provision allowing reimbursement for lost income does not appear to extend to dependent minor children. Said language contained in Section 973.20(3)(c), Stats., only allows payment of lost income to "the injured person" not "the victim" the clear language of the Statute limits the courts ability to order payment of lost wages to only the person who suffered bodily injuries not others.

Another provision of the Restitution Statute, Section 973.20(5)(b), Stats., allows restitution for income loss and other expenses against "the person whom a crime considered at sentencing was committed" this language does not use the word "victim" and does not include family members of the victim. The language specifically excludes everyone except the person against whom crime was committed.

The Restitution Statute simply contains no language allowing for payment of lost wages or any other financial support to anyone other than the injured person. There is no other specific provision found in the restitution statute which would allow the court to make such order for child support.

Even though the restitution statute does not expressly authorize payment of child support as lost wages and contains no other specific authority for ordering support to a deceased victim's family, the question remains whether child support can be ordered as a special damage pursuant to section 973.20(5)(a), Stats., which provides that the court can order payment of all special damages. Child Support cannot be a special damage under this section because it can be adequately substantiated with the particularly lost support amounts would be. Simply, it is a speculative damage.

Section 973.20(5), Stats., provides that "in any case the restitution order do one or more of the following:"

(a) Pay all special damages, but not general damages substantiated by evidence in the records, which could be recovered in a civil action against the defendant of his or her conduct in the commission of a crime considered at sentencing.

Section 973.20(5)(a), Stats.

The distinction between special and general damages has been drawn in many ways. Special damages have been defined as those "representing the victim's actual pecuniary losses."

State v. Rouse, 2002 WI App 107, P8, 254 Wis.2d 761, 647

N.W.2d 286 (Ct. App 2002 (Quoting State v. Stowers, 177 Wis.2d 798, 804-805, 503 N.W.2d 8 (Ct. App 1993). General damages,

Case 2017AP002519 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-16-2020 Page 18 of 25

on the other hand, are those (not readily susceptible to direct proof or easily estimable.) Id. In addition special damages are defined as those that which can be recovered as special damages in a civil proceeding. State v. Rouse, 2002 WI App 107, P12, 254 Wis.2d 761, 768, 647, N.W.2d 286. While lost wages can be characterized as special damages in civil proceedings, the issue involving child support is not necessarily the equivalent of lost wages. In this case, the question is whether the amount that a deceased individual would spend to care for his or her child is a "special damage." The trial court specifically ordered that Rakel would pay a sum equivalent to the current child support order that was in place after taking into consideration a reduction of social security payments being paid to the victim's child.

Considering the administrative provision for setting child support contained in Wisconsin's administrative code, it may make sense to adopt those standards as a method to calculate the amount of support for a deceased victim's child. The actual amount the deceased victim would have spent on the support of his minor child is impossible to determine on the record as set forth in court. Yet the restitution statute does not allow speculation. Special damages are damages meant

Case 2017AP002519 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-16-2020 Page 19 of 25

to compensate actual pecuniary losses. See State v. Rouse, 2002 WI App 107, P8. It is too speculative to say that the administrative percentages in calculating support for divorced and unmarried parents under the administrative code are a fair reflection of the amount of support that the deceased victim in this case would have actually provided to this minor child. As such, child support is not a special damage.

Further, child support is not a proper damage for a civil action for a wrongful death claim. Rather, the statutes provide various other type of damages that can be brought by the decedent's estate in a civil action. Therefore, child support is not a proper order for restitution.

II. THE COURT ERRED BY ORDERING RESTITUTION TO BE PAID TO THE MOTHER OF THE VICTIM'S CHILD.

Even if this court determines that child support is allowed to the victim's child under the restitution provisions in section 973.20, Stats., the court erred in directing any payments to be made to the mother of the victim's child.

Section 973.20(3), Stats., advises this court as to the types of restitution orders that can be made for a crime at sentencing resulting in bodily injury. Section 973.20(3),

Case 2017AP002519 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-16-2020 Page 20 of 25

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