RECEIVED 06-18-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP2519-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL A. RAKEL,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM AN AMENDED JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER FOR RESTITUTION ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MARK A. SANDERS, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

ROBERT G. PROBST Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1063075

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-7063 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) probstrg@doj.state.wi.us

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

ARGUMENT

The circuit court properly ordered Rakel to pay restitution to account for lost child support payments to Taylor's minor child under its statutory authority in Wis. Stat. §§ 767.501(2), 973.20(1r), 973.20(5)(a), 895.03 and 895.04(1).

A. Legal principles demonstrating that the biological mother of Taylor's minor child is entitled to restitution from Rakel.

Under Wis. Stat. § 973.20(1r), the restitution statute, the circuit court "shall" order restitution for "any" crime, other than crimes involving domestic abuse, considered at sentencing "unless the court finds substantial reason not to do so and states the reason on the record." Wisconsin Stat. § 950.02(4)(a)4.a. specifies that a family member of a deceased victim qualifies as a victim. Wisconsin Stat. § 950.02(3) defines "[f]amily member" to mean "spouse, minor child, adult child, sibling, parent, or legal guardian."

In ordering restitution, "a court may require a defendant to pay only special damages the victim sustains which evidence in the record substantiates." *State v. Holmgren*, 229 Wis. 2d 358, 365, 599 N.W.2d 876 (Ct. App. 1999). Special damages "represent the victim's actual pecuniary losses." *Id*.

However, before a circuit court may order a defendant to pay special damages, there must be a showing that, 1) "the defendant's *criminal activity* was a substantial factor in causing' pecuniary injury to the victim," and, that 2) the restitution award "is limited to 'special damages . . . which could be recovered in a civil action against the defendant for his . . . conduct in the commission of a crime." *Longmire*, 272 Wis. 2d 759, ¶¶ 13–14 (alterations in original) (citations omitted). The second limitation "restrains a sentencing court from ordering the payment of 'general damages,' that is,

Case 2017AP002519 Brief of Respondent Filed 06-18-2020 Page 12 of 20

amounts intended to generally compensate the victim for damages such as pain and suffering, anguish, or humiliation." Id. ¶ 14. Special damages are therefore "[a]ny readily ascertainable pecuniary expenditure paid out because of the crime." Holmgren, 229 Wis. 2d at 365.

Wisconsin law authorizing civil recovery for wrongful death. Wisconsin Stat. § 895.04(1) allows family members of the deceased to bring an action for wrongful death by declaring that "[a]n action for wrongful death may be brought by the personal representative of the deceased person or by the person to whom the amount recovered belongs."

"Wisconsin Stat. § 895.03 states the conditions under which a wrongdoer is liable for wrongful death." Force ex rel. Welcenbach v. Am. Family Mut. Ins. Co., 2014 WI 82, ¶ 36, 356 Wis. 2d 582, 850 N.W.2d 866. In short, under that statute, "the legislature has proclaimed that a wrongdoer should be liable for a wrongful death when the injured party could have maintained an action and recovered damages from the defendant, had the injured party survived." Force, 356 Wis. 2d 582, ¶ 37.

A wrongful death action "compensates the deceased's relatives for the damages they suffer as a result of the deceased's death." Force, 356 Wis. 2d 582, ¶ 45. Thus, Wis. Stat. § "895.04(2) provides that minor children get a set-aside from the surviving spouse's recovery and recover as lineal heirs if no surviving spouse exists." Id. ¶ 54 (emphasis added). In addition, Wis. Stat. § 895.04(4) permits a plaintiff in a wrongful death action to recover "damages for pecuniary injury from wrongful death."

Relevant family law provisions. Wisconsin Stat. § 767.511 defines the parameters and requirements before a circuit court may order a person to pay child support payments to another. As relevant here, a circuit court may order a person to pay child support following entry of "an

Case 2017AP002519 Brief of Respondent Filed 06-18-2020 Page 13 of 20

order or a judgment in a paternity action." Wis. Stat. \S 767.511(1). Child support is defined as "the amount . . . that the person should reasonably contribute to the support . . . of the . . . child." Wis. Stat. \S 767.501(2)(b).

Wisconsin Stat. § 767.501, "Actions to compel support," declares that four classes of individuals may bring an action to compel child support payments if the person fails to pay: the person's spouse, the minor child, the person with legal custody of the child, and a "nonlegally responsible relative." Wis. Stat. § 767.501(2). Wisconsin Stat. § 767.501(1)(a) further defines a "[n]onlegally responsible relative" to mean "a relative who assumes responsibility for the care of a child without legal custody, but [who] is not in violation of a court order."

A court reviewing a question of statutory interpretation is to avoid examining a statute in isolation. "While it is true that statutory interpretation begins with the language of the statute," Alberte v. Anew Health Care Servs., Inc., 2000 WI 7, ¶ 10, 232 Wis. 2d 587, 605 N.W.2d 515, a reviewing court's statutory interpretation does not end there. Rather, "[i]n examining the statutory text . . . [a reviewing court] do[es] more than focus on a dictionary definition of each word. Words are given meaning to avoid absurd, unreasonable, or implausible results and results that are clearly at odds with the legislature's purpose." Force, 356 Wis. 2d 582, ¶ 30. Thus, a court should "scrutinize the words in view of the purpose of the statute. . . . [and] consider the meaning of words in the context in which they appear. Id.

This Court has held that for the purposes of the wrongful death statute, the term "pecuniary injury" is interpreted "broadly." *Estate of Holt by Holt v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 151 Wis. 2d 455, 460, 444 N.W.2d 453 (Ct. App. 1989). It includes any "pecuniary loss actual or expected" caused by the defendant's tortious conduct. *Wangen v. Ford Motor Co.*, 97 Wis. 2d 260, 313, 294 N.W.2d 437 (1980)

Case 2017AP002519 Brief of Respondent Filed 06-18-2020 Page 14 of 20

(citation omitted). Indeed, this Court has held that "pecuniary injury" is synonymous with "financial loss." *Estate of Holt*, 151 Wis. 2d at 460.

B. Wisconsin's child support enforcement, wrongful death and restitution statutes authorize a circuit court to award restitution equal to a victim's child support obligations.

Rakel argues that the circuit court did not have the statutory authority to order Rakel to pay restitution in an amount equal to Taylor's child support obligations. (Rakel's Br. 11–16.) Rakel is wrong because the circuit court's treatment of the victim's family's claim for restitution for child support easily satisfies both prongs of *Longmire* to support the imposition of special damages on Rakel under Wis. Stat. § 973.20(5)(a), and comports with the purpose of that statute, the wrongful death statutes, and the child support statutes outlined above.

First, there is no debate that Rakel's criminal activity in causing Taylor's death was a substantial factor in causing Taylor's family pecuniary loss. *Longmire*, 272 Wis. 2d 759, ¶ 13. Because Rakel, Gray and Pries killed Taylor, they deprived Taylor's family of the continued payment of Taylor's child support obligations. The absence of those payments going forward is obviously a "financial loss" which this Court has stated is synonymous with "pecuniary injury" in the wrongful death context. *Estate of Holt*, 151 Wis. 2d at 460.

Second, the circuit court's restitution order is properly limited to "special damages . . . which could be recovered in a civil action against [Rakel] for his . . . conduct in the commission of the crime." Longmire, 272 Wis. 2d 759, ¶ 14 (alterations in original) (quoting Wis. Stat. § 973.20(5)(a)).

Wis. Stat. § 895.04(1) declares that an "action for wrongful death may be brought by the personal

Case 2017AP002519 Brief of Respondent Filed 06-18-2020 Page 15 of 20

representative of the deceased person or by the person to whom the amount recovered belongs." Wisconsin Stat. § 950.02(4)(a)4.a. defines a victim for the purpose of restitution as a family member of the deceased. Finally, Wis. Stat. § 767.501(2) would allow Taylor's minor child to bring a "court action to compel the person to provide support." Thus, Taylor's minor child could bring a wrongful death action against Rakel because she is a victim, who could have brought a child support enforcement action against Taylor were he alive, and she is therefore a "person to whom the amount recovered belongs." Wis. Stat. § 895.04(1).

Instead of obligating Rakel to pay the mother for some general, non-specific amount for pain and suffering because of Taylor's death, the circuit court's order here is specific and based on a demonstrable calculation provided by the circuit court. (R. 59:10–11.) Thus, the circuit court's restitution order satisfied the second *Longmire* factor because the animating principle of that factor is that a defendant should have not have to pay restitution for a victim's "general damages," . . . intended to generally compensate the victim for damages such as pain and suffering, anguish, or humiliation." *Longmire*, 272 Wis. 2d 759, ¶ 14 (citation omitted).

Indeed, the circuit court's explanation of Rakel's restitution order shows that it is expressly not meant to compensate the biological mother of Taylor's child for general damages such as pain and anguish, but for "the amount of loss suffered by the victim as a result of the crime" that the parties were able to discuss and decide concretely based on demonstrable facts in the record. (R. 59:10.)

Indeed, the term "special damages" in Wis. Stat. § 973.20(5)(a) is to be interpreted broadly and means "[a]ny readily ascertainable pecuniary expenditure paid out because of the crime." *Holmgren*, 229 Wis. 2d at 365. And as the Wisconsin Supreme Court has opined, the "dual legislative purposes of the wrongful death statutes [are]: (1) to impose

Case 2017AP002519 Brief of Respondent Filed 06-18-2020 Page 16 of 20

liability on the wrongdoer; and (2) to protect relational interests, especially the interests of the deceased's minor dependent children." *Force*, 356 Wis. 2d 582, ¶ 9. Thus, there is a clear recognition in the caselaw surrounding the wrongful death and restitution statutes that supports the circuit court's restitution award here.

Additionally, Rakel notes that the special damages statute "does not allow speculation," arguing that the circuit court's restitution award was not concretely or properly determined. (Rakel's Br. 15.)

But the circuit court's award of \$11,500 was not based on speculation. Rather, the court's order methodically evaluated Taylor's family's restitution request and explained the specific basis for the amount ordered. (R. 59:5–11.) It first determined the length of the financial obligation (until the child turned 18), began its calculations with a monthly sum that matched Taylor's child support obligations exactly, and then deducted (or offset) the monthly amount the child would receive from social security as a result of Taylor's death. (R. 59:5–11.)

Moreover, consistent with the factors in Wis. Stat. § 973.20(13)(a), the court also factored in Rakel's limited earning capacity while incarcerated, and his brain injury that would limit the type of work he could do. (R. 59:10–16.) Thus, the amount that the court ordered Rakel is not based on "speculation." (Rakel's Br. 15.) Far from it.

C. The statutes also support the circuit court's decision to require that Rakel pay the victim's child support obligations to the biological mother of Taylor's child.

Still, Rakel argues that, even if the circuit court could obligate Rakel to pay child support as a special damage under Wis. Stat. § 973.20(5)(a), it erred in directing that payment be made to the child's biological mother. (Rakel's Br. 16–18.)

Rakel is wrong because his argument ignores the realities of how child support enforcement actions are brought, and the policies behind the wrongful death and restitution statutes.

Although Wis. Stat. § 973.20(5)(a) does not specifically speak to the fact pattern in Rakel's case, this Court has already "emphasize[d] that it is not the nature of the potential civil cause of action that distinguishes between amounts awardable as restitution and those that are not. WISCONSIN STAT. § 973.20(5)(a) permits restitution for 'all special damages' that could be recovered in any type of 'civil action." *Longmire*, 272 Wis. 2d 759, ¶ 26.

As already addressed above, the biological mother of Taylor's child is the person to whom the Walworth County circuit court determined Taylor owed child support to, presumably as a "[n]onlegally responsible relative" under Wis. Stat. § 767.501(1)(a)."¹

Instead of obligating Rakel to pay the mother for some general, non-specific amount for pain and suffering because of Taylor's death, the circuit court's order here is specific and based on a demonstrable calculation provided by the circuit court. (R. 59:10–11.) Thus, the circuit court's restitution order satisfied the second *Longmire* factor because the animating principle of that factor is that a defendant should have not have to pay restitution for a victim's "general damages,' . . . intended to generally compensate the victim for damages such

-

¹ CCAP records in the paternity action do not make clear that the biological mother of Taylor's child is the child's legal guardian. See Walworth County Case Number 2007PA000145PJ In Re the Paternity of M.D.T., Wisconsin Circuit Court Access, https://wcca.wicourts.gov/caseDetail.html?caseNo=2007PA000145PJ&countyNo=64&index=0 (last visited June 11, 2020). Thus, the only other qualifying category to describe the mother is as a "[n]onlegally responsible relative" under Wis. Stat. § 767.501(1)(a).

Case 2017AP002519 Brief of Respondent Filed 06-18-2020 Page 18 of 20

as pain and suffering, anguish, or humiliation." *Longmire*, 272 Wis. 2d 759, ¶ 14 (citation omitted).

Indeed, the circuit court's explanation of Rakel's restitution order shows that it is expressly not meant to compensate the biological mother of Taylor's child for general damages such as pain and anguish, but for "the amount of loss suffered by the victim as a result of the crime" that the parties were able to discuss and decide concretely based on demonstrable facts in the record. (R. 59:10.)

However, Wis. Stat. § 767.501(1)–(2) also make clear that the child's biological mother may also bring an enforcement action as a "nonlegally responsible relative." Indeed, according to CCAP records, as part of the Walworth County paternity action, the child's biological mother brought several actions to compel Taylor to pay his child support payments. Thus, although the child support payments are described by statute as "the amount . . . that the person should reasonably contribute to the support . . . of the . . . child," Wis. Stat. § 767.501(2)(b), the actual litigation brought pursuant to the Walworth County's paternity determination was brought by the minor child's mother, presumably for the child's benefit. Thus, while the minor child is properly considered a victim under the restitution statutes and the person "to whom the amount recovered belongs" under the wrongful death statute in Wis. Stat. § 895.04(1), as a practical matter, the child's mother has undertaken all of the actions to compel Taylor's child support payments. She is therefore the one who has suffered a pecuniary injury.

As the State argued at the restitution hearing, Taylor's family "request[ed] [the child support payments]... because of the fact that had the victim lived he would have been paying this amount of money towards the child of the victim." (R. 59:6.) Thus, the circuit court's order does not obligate Rakel to compensate the family for general damages but for a specific, demonstrable sum that Taylor would have been

Case 2017AP002519 Brief of Respondent Filed 06-18-2020 Page 19 of 20

obligated to pay to the biological mother of his child had Rakel not killed him. This is entirely consistent with this Court's declaration that special damages are "[a]ny readily ascertainable pecuniary expenditure paid out because of the crime." *Holmgren*, 229 Wis. 2d at 365. The circuit court's determination that Rakel pay special damages to the biological mother of Taylor's child was therefore proper.

However, if this Court disagrees that the restitution amount is payable to the child's mother, it should remand with instructions so that the circuit court may name a Guardian Ad Litem ("GAL") for the child and direct Rakel's payments to him or her. See Wis. Stat. § 767.407(1)(a)1. (allowing a court to appoint a GAL for a minor child if "the court has reason for special concern as to the welfare of a minor child.").

CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm Rakel's amended judgment of conviction.